THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

W. H. Bundy, Jr., Respondent,

v.

Bobby Brent Shirley, Petitioner,

Appellate Case No. 2013-001263

RECEIVED
OCT 23 2014
S.C. Supreme Court

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Kershaw County
The Honorable Roderick M. Todd, Jr., Esquire, Special Referee

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

John W. Wells
SCB # 6019
Baxley, Pratt & Wells, PA
P.O. Box 10
Lugoff, S.C. 29078
(803) 438-4200
Attorney for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

M. Brent McDonald, Esquire
Smith Bundy Bybee & Barnett, P.C.
P.O. Box 1542
Mt. Pleasant, S.C. 29464
(843) 881-1623
Attorney for Respondent

Stephen A. Spitz, Esquire
1134 Clearsprings Drive

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals violate the Petitioner's right to procedural due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution by making its decision to deny the Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing prior to the timely filing of the Petitioner's Reply under Rule 240(f) S.C.A.C.R.?
2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the servient landowner's grant of permission to build a gate to the Dominant landowner automatically defeats a prescriptive easement?
3. Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that the Respondent's entitlement to judgment as a matter of law based on permission granted to the Petitioner to erect a gate on the disputed road was raised in the trial court?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err by requiring the Petitioner to prove a period of use that was adverse or under a claim of right in excess of twenty (20) years to establish a prescriptive easement?
5. Did the Court of Appeals err by the retroactive application of Paine Gayle Properties, LLC, v. CSX Transportation, Inc., 400 S.C. 568, 735 S.E.2d 528 (Ct. App. 2012).
6. Did the Court of Appeals err by invading the province of the trial court as fact finder on the issue of permissive use of the road?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a declaratory judgment action filed on March 24, 2009, by the Respondent, W. H. Bundy, (hereinafter Bundy) the servient tract owner, asking the Court to declare what rights the Petitioner, Bobby Brent Shirley,

(hereinafter Shirley) the dominant tract owner, had to use a road located on the Bundy property as a means of access to a thirty-seven (37) acre tract owned by the Shirley. Shirley filed an Answer and Counterclaim on June 19, 2009, alleging that he had a prescriptive easement over the Bundy property. This case was tried without a jury before Special Referee, Roderick M. Todd, on August 25, 26, 2010. The Special Referee issued his order on July 7, 2011, ruling that the Shirley had met his burden of proof establishing a prescriptive easement to use the road. Then Bundy filed and served a Motion to Alter or Amend pursuant to Rule 59 S.C.R.C.P. on July 20, 2011, which was denied as to the prescriptive easement claim by Order of the Special Referee dated February 9, 2012. Then Bundy timely filed a Notice of Appeal, and the South Carolina Court of Appeals reversed issuing an Unpublished Opinion on April 10, 2013. That Opinion was revised and refiled on May 8, 2013. A timely Petition for Rehearing was denied on May 8, 2013. A subsequent Order denying rehearing was filed May 20, 2013.

Shirley is the owner of a thirty-seven (37) acre tract of land in rural Kershaw County primarily used for hunting and fishing the only access to which is a dirt road known as Saxon Road. Saxon Road is county maintained by Kershaw County up to the point where enters the tract owned by Bundy containing approximately Four Hundred Thirty-Nine (439) acres which is also rural property purchased by Bundy from a timber company, in 2003. Saxon Road continues through the Bundy property and terminates at the Shirley tract.

The Shirley tract was acquired by a farmer named Elijah Bennett in 1947. The Bennett Family owned the dominant tract from 1947 through 1969 (Appendix p. 4) During their ownership of the dominant tract, Saxon Road was the only access to it used by the Bennett Family (Appendix p. 357, l. 1 - 17). The trial judge ruled that Shirley established a Twenty (20) year period of adverse use during the

Bennett ownership period from 1947 through 1969 (Finding of Fact 21 Appendix p. 7 - 8)

From 1969 to 1985, the dominant tract was owned by Six (6) different owners. It was acquired by the Shirley's parents in 1985 and transferred to Shirley in 2005. (See Shirley chain of title) (Appendix p. 3 - 4) As to the period of ownership from 1985 until the case was filed in 2009 when the Shirley Family owned the dominant tract, the trial judge ruled "having concluded that the Defendant established a prescriptive easement during the Bennett ownership period, it is unnecessary to establish a prescriptive easement during the Shirley ownership period." (Appendix p. 19) The trial judge went on to rule that Shirley had established a prescriptive use period from 1985 through 2009 under his family's ownership of the dominant tract. (Appendix p. 19 - 20)

In 2004, Shirley put up a gate located on the property line between the Bundy property and the property owned by the Miller Family with the permission of Bundy. (Stipulation 8 Appendix p. 521) The ruling by the trial judge on permissive use of the disputed road was as follows, "as to the evidence presented by the Plaintiff of permissive use, I find that the preponderance of the evidence including that of the violent outbursts by the Defendant establishes that the use of the disputed road by the Defendant was adverse and hostile." (Appendix p. 20) In its April 10, 2013, Opinion the Court of Appeals misquoted Stipulation 8 by adding to it that Shirley requested permission to build the gate. The Court of Appeals ruled that Shirley seeking permission to install a gate on the access road was "an implicit acknowledgment of the property owner's rights and is inconsistent with a claim of right." This was the basis for the reversal of the trial court in the April 10, 2013, Opinion. (See Appendix p. 658)

When the Shirley pointed out in his Petition for Rehearing that the Court of

Appeals had misquoted the Stipulation to add the request for permission which is not in the text of the Stipulation, the Court of Appeals issued the revised Opinion filed May 8, 2013. (See Appendix p. 716) That Opinion shifted the grounds for the reversal from the seeking of permission to install a gate demonstrating an implicit acknowledgment by the dominant tract owner of the servient tract owner's rights, to a novel rule of law; permission to build a gate defeats a prescriptive easement.

A Petition for Rehearing was filed by Shirley on April 24, 2013. Bundy filed a Return of Appellant to Respondent's Petition for Rehearing on May 3, 2013. Shirley timely filed his Reply five (5) days later on May 8, 2013, about the middle of the day. Shirley's counsel was surprised to receive an Order denying rehearing that was also filed May 8, 2013, (See Appendix p. 715) together with the substituted and refiled Opinion which was filed on May 8, 2013, wondering how Court of Appeals had distributed six (6) copies of the Reply that were sitting in the lobby of the Brown Building at noon on May 8, 2013, to the Judges in time for them to review the same, revise the original Opinion and issue an Order denying rehearing, all on the afternoon of May 8, 2013. Shirley's counsel sent a letter to the Clerk of Court for the Court of Appeals dated May 14, 2013, inquiring how this had occurred. The Court of Appeals then filed a May 20, 2013, Order (See Appendix p. 719) indicating that the Reply was reviewed after the decision to deny rehearing was made on May 8, 2013, but declining to alter its decision to deny rehearing after reviewing the Reply.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action. Jowers v. Hornsby 292 S.C. 549, 357 S.E. 2d 710 (1987). In an appeal from an action at law tried by a Judge, the Judge's factual findings will not be disturbed unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports them. Towns Associates LTD v. City of Greenville 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E. 2d 773 (1976). On appeal of an action at law, this Court will affirm the Master's findings if there is any evidence in the record which reasonably supports them. Query v. Burgess, 371 S.C. 407, 410, 639 S.E. 2d 455, 456 (Ct. App. 2006).

ARGUMENT

1. Did the Court of Appeals violate the Petitioner's right to procedural due process of law under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution by making its decision to deny the Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing prior to the timely filing of the Petitioner's Reply under Rule 240(f) S.C.A.C.R.?

The Court of Appeals filed its Opinion reversing the trial court's decision on April 10, 2013. Shirley filed and served a Petition for Rehearing on May 24, 2013, under Rule 221(a) S.C.A.C.R. Bundy filed and served a return to the Petition for Rehearing under Rule 240(e) S.C.A.C.R. on May 3, 2013. Shirley was allowed five (5) days to serve and file a reply under Rule 240(f) S.C.A.C.R. excluding Saturday and Sunday, May 4th and 5th, 2013, under Rule 263 S.C.A.C.R., making the deadline for filing the Reply Friday, May 10, 2013. Shirley timely filed and served his Reply by delivering the original and six (6) copies to the Court of Appeals at noon on May 8, 2013.

The revised Opinion of the Court of Appeals and the Order denying the Petition for Rehearing were both filed on May 8, 2013. Shirley's belief that the

decision to deny rehearing was made by the Court of Appeals prior to its review of the timely filed Reply was confirmed by the subsequent filing of a May 20, 2013, Order also denying rehearing but unlike the May 8, 2013, Order, (See Appendix p. 715) the May 20, 2013, Order (See Appendix p. 719) acknowledged the receipt of the Reply.

Procedural due process requires fair notice and proper standards for adjudication State v. Newman 384 S.C. 395 683 S.E. 2d 268 (2009). The proper standard for adjudication, the process due to the litigants in the Court of Appeals is defined by the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules. Rule 221(a) S.C.A.C.R. allows for a Petition for Rehearing and refers to Rule 240 S.C.A.C.R. governing the procedure for petitions in general. Rule 240(f) S.C.A.C.R. allows a reply to be filed by the petitioning party within five (5) days of the filing of the return by the opposing party. The implication is clear that the Petition for Rehearing, the Return and the Reply will be read by the Court of Appeals **before** it makes a decision on Rehearing, not afterward. In this case however, the cart was put before the horse, the decision to deny rehearing was made prior to the reading of the Reply. The belated reading of the Reply after the decision to deny rehearing had been made mentioned in the May 20, 2013, Order of the Court of Appeals does not cure the prejudicial effect of making the decision before the rehearing process was complete.

The case on point is South Carolina DSS v. Beeks 325 S.C.243, 481 S.E.2d 703 (1997) where the trial judge issued a final order prior to concluding the trial. "The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard **at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.**" (emphasis added) The South Carolina DSS v. Beeks, supra. As one might expect, the Supreme Court Ruled that issuing a final order before completing the trial violated procedural due process in Beeks. Likewise, making the decision to deny rehearing before the unambiguous

timelines for arguing the issues in the Petition for Rehearing set forth in the Court Rules had expired violates the Petitioner's right to procedural due process. The attempt to unring the bell by reading the Reply after the decision to deny rehearing had been made does not satisfy the "meaningful time" requirement of procedural due process set forth above.

The remedy for the due process violation is the granting of certiorari giving the Petitioner a review of the issues on appeal by the Supreme Court.

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the servient landowner's grant of permission to build a gate to the Dominant landowner automatically defeats a prescriptive easement?

At trial, Bundy raised the defense of permissive use to defeat the prescriptive easement sought by Shirley. Bundy relied on the case of Williamson v. Abbott 107 S.C. 397, 93 S.E. 15 (S.C. 1917) which case, unlike the one at barr, involves use that was permissive in its inception. In Williamson v. Abbott, the dominant tract owner requested permission to use the easement, a ditch, at the digging of the ditch and used the ditch for an extended period of time thereafter. Williamson v. Abbott supra. deals with a limited fact situation involving use that was permissive in its inception.

"It is the well settled rule that use by express or implied permission or license, no matter how long continued, cannot ripen into an easement by prescription since user as of right, as distinguished from the permissive user, is lacking, **if permissive in its inception**, such permissive character will continue of the same nature and no adverse user can arise until there is a distinct and positive assertion of right hostile to the owner and brought home to him." Williamson v. Abbott supra. (emphasis added)

The trial judge considered all of the testimony concerning the permissive use of Saxon Road including Stipulation 8 which reads, "In 2004, Shirley put up a gate located on the property line between the Bundy property and the property of the Miller family with the permission of Bundy." (Appendix p. 521) Stipulation 8 does not say that Shirley went to Bundy seeking permission to build the gate. It does not address the permissive use of the road.

On the other hand, the judge had evidence before him that Shirley's use was adverse or under a claim of right. At one point, Shirley found a gate obstructing the road and put took the gate down (Appendix p. 298 l. 18 - 299 l. 14) Shirley testified that he believed that he had the right to use the road (Appendix p. 300 l. 7-14) Finally, the trial judge had the following testimony from Bundy:

- Q. But he asserted that he had the right to go and come down that road; is that correct?
- A. That is one of the assertions. The other assertion he made was that I didn't have a right to use it.
- Q. And would you characterize that conversation as being hostile?
- A. It was hostile. There was a death threat. Yes. It was hostile as you can get.
- Q. Would you characterize that conversation as being adverse?
- A. Yes. Sure.
- Q. And the second conversation I think was initiated by you; is that correct? You called him on the phone on the second one about the gate?
- A. I asked him to remove his property from my property.
- Q. Okay. And his reaction to you on that occasion I think was adverse as well; is that correct?
- A. Well, yeah, but the property right he was asserting was a little different the second time. The second time he was asserting that I had no right to have him remove his property from my property.
- That once I had given him permission – as near as I can reconstruct it, is that once I had given him permission to put a gate on my property, that from that point forward the gate could not be moved. That it was his gate. And it was – to the extent that it was there, I had no dominion or control over what was on my property.
- Q. Was it in that conversation or the first one that he said, "That is my damn road," or something to that effect?
- A. That isn't what he said, but that is close enough. He took – yeah. He took the position that it was his road, his gate. And essentially, you know, I had no rights in and about that road. It was not only his right, but the fact that I had

none. He was going to tell em what to do, how to use my property, when I could use my property, and for what use I could make of my property. That is pretty – (Appendix p. 212 l. 11 - 214 l. 3)

The trial judge considered the conflicting evidence of permissive use and made the following finding of fact: “As to the evidence presented by the Plaintiff of permissive use, I find that the preponderance of the evidence including that of the violent outburst by the Defendant establishes that the use of the disputed road was adverse and hostile.” (Appendix p. 20) That ruling by the trial court does have evidence to support it set forth above, and whereas the Court of Appeals may have weighed the evidence differently and come out with a different result, that ruling by the trial court should not have been disturbed under the standard of review for cases at law because it has evidentiary support.

The Court of Appeals ruled, “Based on the parties’ stipulations, Bundy’s grant of permission for Shirley to build the gate defeats a claim of right or adverse use of the disputed road because the use of the disputed road was permissive.” (Unpublished opinion 2013 U.P-153 as refiled May 8, 2013.) (Appendix p 717 - 718)

The case relied upon by the Court of Appeals to reverse the trial court is Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. 400 S.C. 568, 735 S.E. 2d 528 (Ct. App. 2012) filed on November 14, 2012, after the Final Briefs had been filed on this appeal, and which case was not mentioned in the oral arguments on January 9, 2013. The trial court had no opportunity to rule on any matters of law arising from Paine Gayle Properties, LLC as discussed above. Shirley had no opportunity to brief that case or even respond to it in oral argument as it was not mentioned. The ruling of the Court of Appeals is that permission to build a gate automatically defeats a prescriptive easement which is contrary to the existing law in South Carolina at the time of the filing of this case, and is contrary to the holding

in Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. supra.

Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. supra came to the Court of Appeals as an appeal from a grant of Summary Judgment to the servient tract owner based on the facts set out in testimony and various affidavits which form the record in that case.

The Court of Appeals in Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. supra. did not confuse permission to erect a gate with permission to use the road in dispute. The Court of Appeals treated permission to erect the gate as one fact tending to shed light on the relationship between the dominant tract owner and servient tract owner. It considered the dominant tract owners' intent in seeking permission to build the gate together with the rest of the testimony and affidavits, some of which admitted that the railroad had given tacit permission to cross the right of way. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's determination that "the overall tenor of the affidavit (discussing the gate) is that the landowner's use was with the railroad's permission and in recognition of the railroad's rights." In Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. supra., the Court of Appeals focused on the permission to use the road, not permission to erect the gate which is a correct application of South Carolina law.

Contrast the "overall tenor" of Gayle's affidavit in Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. supra. with the "overall tenor" of the following testimony from the Bundy, about Shirley's attitude concerning the gate in the case at bar:

- A. "This is to confirm that I called you Monday morning, September 12, to request that you remove your gate from my property. It is my understanding from our conversation it appears to me, sir, you claim you have a right to maintain a gate on my property"

That is really — that was really more or less what he said. It really wasn't so much that he owned the road, but that he had a right to keep a gate on my property. And I had no right to remove it. And that is when he — I said, "Well, I'm going to take it down if you don't take it down."

He said, "If you move my gate I'll kill you." So he was now claiming ownership interest in things on my property. And the purpose of this letter is to formally request that you remove your gate. (Transcript p. 197 lines 6 - 22)

The "overall tenor" of the evidence in Paine Gayle Properties when the Court of Appeals analyzed all of the evidence was that the dominant tract owners showed great deference and submissiveness toward the railroad in using the right of way. The conversation surrounding the erection of the gate was but one piece of evidence shedding light on that relationship. The "overall tenor" of the evidence in the case at bar, according to Bundy, is that Shirley showed no respect for the Bundy's rights in using the road or in the gate itself. The deference and submissiveness demonstrated in Paine Gayle Properties, LLC vs. CSX Transportation, Inc. supra. is altogether absent in this case. The cases are factually distinguishable.

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