THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

W. H. Bundy, Jr.....Respondent,

v.

Bobby Brent Shirley.....Petitioner.

ON WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLATE COURT CASE NO. 2013-001263

---

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Roderick M. Todd, Jr., Esquire, Special Referee  
Case No.: 2009-CP-28-00338

**RECEIVED**

NOV 26 2014

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

---

Stephen A. Spitz, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No. 5287  
Stevens & Lee  
151 Meeting Street, Suite 350  
Charleston, SC 29401  
(843)-414-5085

M. Brent McDonald, Esquire  
S.C. Bar No. 78057  
Smith Bundy Bybee & Barnett, P.C.  
P.O. Box 1542  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464

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

Roberson v. Southern Finance of South Carolina, Inc., 615 S.E.2d 112; Watford v. S.C. State Highway Department, 236 S.E.2d 588.

**VII. In response to Petitioner’s arguments in his “conclusion” section: The Petitioner or any citizen or entity before this Honorable Court should not be permitted to gain any legal advantage or be rewarded in any way by relying on “death threats” and violent conduct.**

The Petitioner concludes his Brief by stating as follows:

**“[T]he trial judge discharged his duty to weigh the Stipulation 8 permission to erect a gate **against the death threat and other words and actions of Shirley that demonstrated his contempt for any man who would deny him his right to use the disputed road...**”**

Brief of Petitioner, p. 23. This shockingly violent behavior, even though it occurred after the withdrawal of permission, simply should never be rewarded in law or equity by the highest Court in the State of South Carolina. Essentially, as concluded by the Petitioner in his brief, the Petitioner takes the position that “death threats” trump the long standing legal premise in South Carolina that permission bars a prescriptive easement. The Petitioner seeks to have this Court rule that so long as a death threat is made—even if made after the granting and revocation of permission by a landowner—the party making the death threat has the legal right to successfully assert a claim to a prescriptive easement. This is not and should not be the law.

**Conclusion of Response to Petitioner’s arguments**

For the reasons stated herein, the Order of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed. The parties stipulated to facts that conclusively show that permission was at the very heart of Shirley’s use of the Disputed Road while Bowater owned the property and when Bundy first owned the property. It is Shirley’s temper and conduct that have put him in the position he is in now. He and his family purchased their property with full knowledge that they did not have legal access over

the Disputed Road.<sup>18</sup> Shirley used the Wildlife Management Area Program and the permission of Bowater to use the Disputed Road to access his property from 1985 to 2003. Upon Bundy purchasing the property, the first thing Shirley did was request and receive permission from Bundy to use the Disputed Road. It was only after Shirley's own loss of his temper and his first death threats did Shirley exhaust the neighborly permission that he once enjoyed. He now is before this Court seeking to have this Court declare that notwithstanding the permission of Bowater and Bundy, but solely because of his violent conduct after the revocation of permission that he should be granted a free easement over the Disputed Road. The facts, including the stipulated facts, do not support this outrageous position, nor does the law. The Court of Appeals applied the undisputed law to the undisputed facts. The Court of Appeal's Order should be affirmed.

#### **Additional sustaining grounds for the Order of the Court of Appeals**

The Court of Appeals reversed the Special Referee based upon only one of Bundy's arguments on appeal. As such, the Court of Appeals did not address each of Bundy's arguments.<sup>19</sup> To the extent this Court is inclined to find disfavor with the Order of the Court of Appeals, Bundy submits the following additional arguments that were raised to the Special Referee and the Court of Appeals. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716 (2000); Rule 220(c), SCACR.

---

<sup>18</sup> Contrary to Shirley's assertion in his Brief that the Disputed Road is his "only" access to his property (*See* Brief of Petitioner, p. 2), Bundy is aware that Shirley continues to access his property over the lands of another. This fact is not in the Record on Appeal, nor could it have been, as Shirley's use of this point of access began after the Court of Appeals issued its Order. It should be clearly noted that in the trial court, Shirley did not claim an "easement by necessity."

<sup>19</sup> As this Court is well aware, the Court of Appeals simply noted in its final paragraph that "As to Bundy's remaining arguments on appeal, we decline to address these issues because the above findings are dispositive of the appeal. *See Young v. Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 397 S.C. 303, 311, 725 S.E.2d 107, 111 (2012) (declining to address additional remaining issues when the disposition of a prior issue was dispositive of the appeal)."

**I. Shirley failed to establish his use was “adverse” or under “claim of right.”**

To establish a prescriptive easement, the party asserting the right must show: (1) continued and uninterrupted use and enjoyment for the full period of 20 years, (2) the identity of the thing enjoyed, and (3) use which is either adverse or under a claim of right. *Horry County v. Laychur*, 315 S.C. 364, 367, 434 S.E.2d 259, 261 (S.C. 1993).

In addition to the fact, as presented above, that Shirley failed to establish the continued and uninterrupted use requirement for the full twenty (20) years, and likewise, as presented above, Shirley’s use was pursuant to permission obtained from Bundy, Shirley failed to establish that his use was adverse or under a claim of right at any point prior to 2005, when Bundy’s permission was revoked and for the first time ever Shirley asserted a claim of right by threatening to kill Bundy.

The third element necessary to establish a prescriptive easement is that the claimant must establish that the use was open, hostile, notorious, continuous, and uninterrupted in order to have shown the use to have been adverse. *Poole v. Edwards*, 197 S.C. 280, 283, 15 S.E.2d 349, 350 (S.C. 1941). The claimant may also prove the third element by establishing that the use was under a “claim of right.”

**A. Shirley did not establish a valid claim of right.**

South Carolina courts have held that a party may establish a prescriptive easement under a claim of right if “he demonstrate[s] a substantial belief that he had the right to use the parcel or road **based upon the totality of circumstances surrounding his use**” and in a manner consistent with the alleged easement. *Hartley v. John Wesley United Methodist Church of Johns Island*, 355 S.C. 145, 151, 584 S.E.2d 386, 389 (Ct.App. 2003) (emphasis added); *see also* 25 Am.Jur.2d Easements and Licenses, § 57, at 552 (2004) (stating “an intent to claim adversely may be inferred

from the acts and conduct of the dominant users” and defining “claim of right” as “without recognition of the rights of the owner of the servient estate”).

In the present case, Shirley attempted to present evidence to show that he used the disputed pathway under a claim of right. The asserted claim of right was that he thought he had a right to use the Disputed Road because it was public, though he never made such a claim until after permission to use the road was revoked. *See* Appendix p. 300, Transcript of Hearing Vol I, Testimony of Shirley, p. 187). This is insufficient as a matter of law.<sup>20</sup> In Morrow v. Dyches, 328 S.C. 522, 527, 492 S.E.2d 420, 423 (Ct.App.1997), the South Carolina Court of Appeals specifically rejected an argument of a party seeking to establish a prescriptive easement under a claim of right merely because he “thought” he had a right to use the road. An example of a “claim of right” actually based in fact is found in the case of Revis v. Barrett, 321 S.C. 206; 467 S.E.2d 460 (Ct.App. 1996). In Revis, the road in question was in fact formerly a public road that was abandoned and the claimant, Revis, had a letter from the adverse party that specifically recognized her rights in the road. This letter served as the basis for the dismissal of a previous lawsuit over the right to use the road brought by Revis’ parents. In Revis, therefore, the claim of right had some basis in evidence other than what Revis “thought.” Here, as explained below, there is no such evidence in which to base any “substantial belief” of a claim of right.

Moreover, Shirley sought a key, both from Bowater through DNR and from Bundy and erected a gate on the Disputed Road. Therefore, based upon the totality of the circumstances, Shirley is unable to now argue that his easement by prescription was established under a claim of right when in the past he has acknowledged he had no absolute right.

---

<sup>20</sup> It is also contrary, once again, to Stipulated Fact Number 8, because Shirley admits to erecting a gate on the Disputed Road with the permission of Bundy. Shirley cannot in the face of a stipulated fact that he sought to erect a gate on a private road with the permission of Bundy simultaneously argue that it was a public road.

**B. Shirley did not establish that his use was adverse.**

Shirley failed to show that his use was open, hostile, notorious, continuous, and uninterrupted. See Poole v. Edwards, 15 S.E.2d 349, 350. The failure of the continuous and uninterrupted elements is addressed above.<sup>21</sup> Shirley's use also failed to be open and notorious. Shirley is attempting in this case to establish a prescriptive easement by submitting evidence that he periodically used the Disputed Road over the unenclosed woodland property of a timber company that allowed the general public to enter upon for the benefit of the general public. He argues and the Special Referee erroneously agreed that this use is open and notorious in such a way as to put the owner<sup>22</sup> on notice that Shirley was seeking to exercise rights both different and distinct from the public and detrimental to the rights of the timber company. In South Carolina, however, "[t]he long-term use by the public of a road through unenclosed and unimproved woodland does not give rise to a right-of-way by prescription." Cleland v. Westvaco, 314 S.C. 508, 511, 431 S.E.2d 264, 267 (Ct.App. 1994). The use must be exclusive and different from any rights asserted by the general public in order to establish a private right of prescription. Cleland v. Westvaco, 314 S.C. at 511, 431 S.E.2d at 266. Shirley's claim to a prescriptive easement, to be

---

<sup>21</sup> This also applies to the Bennett Family's use of the Disputed Road as there is no evidence of continuous and uninterrupted use for the full 20 year period by the Bennett Family. This too is discussed above.

<sup>22</sup> Fundamental to a claim for a prescriptive easement or adverse possession, the party asserting the claim must show, in addition to other elements, that his use was open, exclusive, notorious, and hostile. The central point of the showing of these elements is to provide notice to the record owner of the property. 3 Am.Jur.2d Adverse Possession § 65 ("It is the legal owners knowledge, either actual or imputable, of another's possession of lands that is required for adverse possession\*\*\* The true owner is generally chargeable with knowledge of what is openly done, and therefore calculated to attract attention, on the owner's land."). Here, Shirley did not present any evidence that Bowater had any notice of his use of the property. Indeed, as stated herein, his use was consistent with the use the general public made or could have made of the Bowater/Bundy Property and the disputed road pursuant to the WMA program. Shirley testified six (6) separate times that his use was consistent only with the use the public made of the logging road because it was public while it was enrolled in the WMA Program. See (Appendix pp. 236-238; 247; 251-253; 300-301; 315-318, Transcript of Hearing Vol I, Testimony of Shirley, pp. 123-125; 134; 138-140; 187-188; 202-205). The Special Referee found the disputed road was not a public road. Shirley's use does not arise to a prescriptive easement. There was no way for the landowner, Bowater, to prevent or uncover this type of secret use while the property is leased into the WMA program because everyone in the general public was allowed to use the logging road. Indeed, in Cleland v. Westvaco, 314 S.C. 508, 431 S.E.2d 264 (Ct.App. 1994), the South Carolina Court of Appeals has already recognized, even in the absence of a WMA lease, that large unenclosed timber property is different and, therefore, prescriptive rights cannot arise because of notice problems to the owner.

valid, must be based upon notice to the real owner that someone is truly entering the property and that their entry is different than the public using the property. Shirley must have had an independent claim of right that he was entitled to be on the property. However, the testimony of Shirley is clear that he has no “independent right,” but was merely present on the property along with the other members of the public – all of whom were invited on the land by Bowater. Shirley cannot show that his use was open and notorious.

Shirley’s claim that his use was hostile also fails as a matter of law . The Special Referee’s reliance on the death threats and verbal assaults of Shirley to establish the hostility element of a prescriptive easement is unfounded in both equity and law. The element of hostility is meant to require the claimant of a prescriptive easement to establish that his conduct was such as to put the owner of the servient estate on actual or constructive notice that the claimant was seeking to establish a property right that will in fact detract from the property rights the servient estate possessed prior to the establishment of the easement. In the present case, Shirley cannot show hostility because he used the Disputed Road with permission from Bowater and then Bundy. It was not until 2005 that Shirley first stated he had a right to use the Disputed Road without permission. Therefore, Shirley cannot show the hostility element.

**C. Permissive use defeats any claim of adverse use or use under a claim of right.**

Permissive use is fatal to both a claim of right assertion and an adverse possession theory. “It is the well settled rule that use by express or implied permission or license, no matter how long continued, cannot ripen into an easement by prescription, since user as of right, as distinguished from permissive user, is lacking, if permissive in its inception, such permissive character will continue of the same nature, and no adverse user can arise, until there is a distinct and positive assertion of a right hostile to the owner, and brought home to him.” Williamson v. Abbott, 107 SC

397, 93 S.E. 15 (S.C. 1917). The Special Referee expressly found and based his ruling on the legal conclusion that permissive use does not apply to a claim for a prescriptive easement under a claim of right pursuant to Revis v. Barrett, *supra*. This is clear error. Revis specifically recognizes that a prescriptive easement based on a claim of right is subject to the defense of permission. The facts of Revis, however, showed that Revis believed that her right to use the road was based on a letter from the adverse party that actually recognized legal rights rather than granted any permission. Here, there is no such evidence of any basis for any claim of right. There is no letter, deed, or writing of any kind upon which Shirley can base his alleged claim of right.

Additionally, from 1985 to 2003 the Bundy property was subject to the WMA lease wherein the public could enter upon the lands of Bowater and use the roads located on the property or simply walk the entirety of the property, including the disputed pathway. These years do not count toward the twenty (20) year period because the use, if any, was permissive. Shirley testified that he was aware of the public's WMA access over the land during this period and he was aware of that right prior to purchase of the Shirley property. The law is clearly set forth in Williamson v. Abbott, 93 S.E. 15 (S.C. 1917) where the South Carolina Supreme Court held that use that begins as permissive "cannot ripen into an easement by prescription."

In the Special Referee's Order, the Special Referee recognized in his Findings of Fact Section of that Order "that the parties entered into the following stipulation of facts prior to the trial of this case." The Special Referee then went on to discuss some of those stipulations as follows:

**b. From 1985 to 2003, the Bundy Property was leased by the Plaintiff's predecessors in title Bowater Incorporated and Bowater Timber 1, LLC, to the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources (the "Lease")**

**c. Between 1985 to 2003, the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources had a legal interest in the Bundy Property.**

**d. As a result of the Lease, the Bundy Property was enrolled in the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources Wildlife Management Area Program.**

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